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I. CONTEXT 

 

The Lake Creek Settlement was an Anglo-American settlement located in Austin’s 

Second Colony in the Mexican State of Coahuila and Texas during the Texas colonial 

period.  During the Republic of Texas era, Lake Creek Settlement found itself located 

first in Washington County and later in Montgomery County when that county was 

created. Within just a few generations of the founding of the town of Montgomery and 

the creation of Montgomery County in 1837, the Lake Creek Settlement was forgotten.  

Unearthed by historians over the last two and a half decades through historical 

research using long ignored primary source documents located in the Montgomery 

County courthouse, the Washington County courthouse, the Austin County courthouse, 

the Dolph Briscoe Center for American History, the Texas State Library and Archives, 

and the Texas General Land Office; the Lake Creek Settlement has risen like the Phoenix 

from the ashes of forgotten Texas history. The discovery of Lake Creek Settlement has 

changed the way the early history of the town of Montgomery and Montgomery County 

will be studied and understood forever.   

 

II. OVERVIEW 

 

On May 20, 1825, Stephen F. Austin obtained from the government of the Mexican 

State of Coahuila and Texas a contract for the introduction of five hundred families.  

Stephen F. Austin signed this Empresario contract with the State of Coahuila and Texas 

on June 4, 1825.
1
  This contract, for what was to become known as Austin’s Second 

Colony, was to be completed within six years.
2
  Order No. 24, dated March 7, 1827 

defined the boundaries of Austin’s Second Colony for the purposes of this contract.
3
 As 

described in Order No. 24, the west fork of the San Jacinto River formed part of the 
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eastern boundary of Austin’s Second Colony. On November 13, 1829, Miguel Arciniega 

was appointed commissioner of this colony.
4
 

Under the 1825 contract, Empresario Stephen F. Austin granted land on behalf of the 

Mexican government to a number of colonists in 1831.  Some of these settlers in Austin’s 

Second Colony received leagues of land between the west fork of the San Jacinto River 

and the stream called Lake Creek in what is today western Montgomery County. The 

early settlers who qualified and received leagues of land, in what is today western 

Montgomery County, included the following individuals: Mary Corner (April 7, 1831), 

James Pevehouse (April 7, 1831), Archibald Hodge (April 8, 1831), James Hodge (April 

8, 1831), Owen Shannon (April 8, 1831), William C. Clark (April 10, 1831), William 

Landrum (April 10, 1831), Zachariah Landrum (April 10, 1831), William M. Rankin 

(April 10, 1831), Noah Griffith (April 11, 1831), Benjamin Rigby (April 14, 1831), 

William Atkins (April 18, 1831), Jacob Shannon (April 30, 1831), Raleigh Rogers (May 

6, 1831), John Corner (May 10, 1831), and Anne White (May 12, 1831).
5
 

Elias R. Wightman (hereinafter E. R. Wightman) surveyed all these leagues.
6
  The 

chain carriers assisting Wightman in surveying these leagues included, at various times, 

William Rankin, Mathew Hubert, John Corner, William Atkins and James Rankin.
7
 

Within two years of the arrival of the colonists in 1831, the settlement located 

between the west fork of the San Jacinto River and the stream called Lake Creek had 

become known as the “Lake Creek Settlement.” The Lake Creek Settlement was the 

earliest Anglo-American settlement in what is today Montgomery County.
8
  As early as 

August 8, 1833, Jacob Shannon executed a legal document called “Articles of 

Agreement” in behalf of his widowed sister, Rutha [Ruth] Miller, in the Lake Creek 

Settlement in Austin’s Colony.
9
 Another early reference to Lake Creek Settlement is 

found in Stephen F. Austin’s Register of Families, in which Thomas Chatham was 

recorded receiving land in Lake Creek Settlement on January 13, 1834.
10

  The Lake 

Creek Settlement was also commonly referred to as the “neighborhood of Lake Creek,” 

the “District of Lake Creek,” the “Precinct of Lake Creek,” or simply as “Lake Creek.”
11

 

In 1835, William W. Shepperd (hereinafter W. W. Shepperd), an Austin’s Colony 

colonist originally from North Carolina, purchased a 200-acre tract of land located in 

northwestern-most corner of the John Corner League.
12

  W. W. Shepperd built homes and 
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lived on this 200-acre tract with his wife, Mary Steptoe Shepperd, and their children and 

their slaves.
13

  He soon built a store at this location. This was the first store in the Lake 

Creek Settlement.  Shepperd’s store was known as “the store of W. W. Shepperd on Lake 

Creek.”
14

  Also on these two hundred acres, Shepperd would operate a gin and a 

stockyard.
15

 

The location of W. W. Shepperd’s store had three important advantages.  First, a 

spring-fed branch of Atkins Creek [that would later be known as Town Creek] ran 

through this two hundred acre tract providing fresh water for settlers and livestock.
16

  

Second, the store was located close to the geographic center of Lake Creek Settlement.  

Third, Shepperd’s store was located near three important roads or traces running through 

the Lake Creek Settlement. 

W.W. Shepperd’s store being located on the extreme west side of the John Corner 

League was located near what Austin Colony surveyor E. R. Wightman identified as the 

“Contraband Trace.” This trail ran north and south along the eastern side of the adjacent 

Benjamin Rigby League.
17

  According to the map accompanying the “English Field 

Notes” prepared by E. R. Wightman for League No. 23 [Benjamin Rigby League] in 

1831, the “Contraband Trace” is clearly shown rising out of the northern portion of the 

Zachariah Landrum League and running along the eastern edge of the Benjamin Rigby 

League.
18

  Shepperd’s store, located in the northwestern-most corner of the John Corner 

League, was as close to the Contraband Trace as Shepperd could get without actually 

being located on the Benjamin Rigby League.  Within a short distance to the south of W. 

W. Shepperd’s store, the Contraband Trace intersected two other trails that E. R. 

Wightman identified as the Coshatta [Coushatta] Trace and the Grimes Road.
19

 

Long before the arrival of Stephen F. Austin’s colonists, the Coushatta Indians 

had traveled through the lands that would become the Lake Creek Settlement upon the 

Coushatta Trace. According to historian Howard N. Martin, “The Coushatta Trace was a 

road from Louisiana into Texas that was used by the Coushatta Indians in their hunting 

and trading activities. It was an important middle road between the better-known and 

Spanish-patrolled Atascosito Road along the Texas coast and the Old San Antonio Road 

farther inland.  Although the Coushatta Trace and the Atascosito Road were the most 

important roads through Austin's colony, the actual route of the Coushatta Trace has been 
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discovered only generally and recently.  In the area of present day Montgomery County 

the Coushatta Trace passed along the eastern side of the San Jacinto River, crossed this 

river near the Iron Mound league [Raleigh Rogers League], and turned west. It ran south 

of the site of present Montgomery and then passed through what is now Waller County to 

the Coushatta crossing of the Brazos River.”
20

 

According to the 1831 map of “Surveys in Austin’s Colony along the west bank 

of the San Jacinto River” prepared by E. R. Wightman, a portion of the Coushatta Trace 

is labeled and shown running through five leagues of land that would later be part of the 

Lake Creek Settlement. The Coushatta Trace runs north and south through the Raleigh 

Rogers League [Iron Mound League] crosses over onto the Zachariah Landrum League 

and then back onto the Raleigh Rogers League. The Coushatta Trace then turns east so 

that it runs east and west across the John Corner League (the League upon which 

Shepperd’s store was located), the William Atkins League, and the William C. Clark 

League before crossing west fork of the San Jacinto River.
21

   

The 1831 map of “Surveys in Austin’s Colony along the west bank of the San 

Jacinto River” also indicates the Grimes Road running through three leagues of land that 

would later be part of the Lake Creek Settlement. The Grimes Road is shown branching 

off to the west from the Coushatta Trace and running east and west across the Zachariah 

Landrum League, the William M. Rankin League, and the Bedie League [Jacob Shannon 

League].
22

  

W. W. Shepperd’s store quickly became the meeting place and community center 

of the Lake Creek Settlement. The colonists and settlers no longer had to travel many 

miles to the towns of San Felipe de Austin or Washington [Washington-on-the-Brazos] in 

order to purchase goods and supplies.  In addition to purchasing goods, colonists and 

other settlers would come to Shepperd’s store to execute land deeds and other legal 

documents and have these documents witnessed by those gathered there.
23

   

A number of men from the Lake Creek Settlement fought in the Texas Revolution 

in 1835 and 1836.  These Texas Revolutionary soldiers included Matthew Cartwright, 

Thomas Chatham, Evin [Evan] Corner, James J. Foster, Raleigh Rogers Jacob Shannon, 

Jacob H. Shepperd, A. U. Springer, and John Marshall Wade.
24

  Men from the Lake 

Creek Settlement fought in many of the battles of the Texas Revolution, including the 
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Battle of Concepcion, the Grass Fight, the Siege of Bexar, and the Battle of San Jacinto.
25

  

The man originally appointed to gather reinforcements in the Lake Creek Settlement was 

James J. Foster.
26

  Foster resigned shortly after his appointment and most of the militia 

volunteering from Lake Creek Settlement either joined Captain William Ware’s company 

or Captain Joseph L. Bennett’s company.
27

  Lake Creek Settlement resident, John 

Marshall Wade, fought in the Battle of San Jacinto and manned one of the famous “Twin 

Sisters” cannons during this decisive battle in which Texas won her independence from 

Mexico.
28

 

Charles B. Stewart, a delegate from the Municipality of Austin to the Convention 

at Washington-on-the-Brazos who had signed the Texas Declaration of Independence 

from Mexico, left the Convention on March 8, 1836 to get married to W. W. Shepperd’s 

daughter, Julia Shepperd, in the Lake Creek Settlement.
29

 He returned to the ongoing 

Convention on March 16, 1836.
30

  The following day, March 17, 1836, the Constitution 

of the Republic of Texas was adopted and the Convention was adjourned.
31

 

Just prior to and during the Texas Revolution, the Lake Creek Settlement was 

located in the Municipality of Washington.
32

  Following the Texas Revolution, the Lake 

Creek Settlement found itself located in Washington County.  Washington County was 

divided politically into six very large precincts. One of these precincts took its name from 

the Lake Creek Settlement. The six large precincts located in Washington County were 

the Hazard Precinct, the Hidalgo Precinct, the Washington Precinct, the Viesca Precinct, 

the San Jacinto Precinct, and the Lake Creek Precinct.
33

 

In a joint resolution passed by the Congress of the Republic of Texas and signed 

into law by President Sam Houston on December 17, 1836, the Chief Justice of each 

county in the Republic of Texas was required to provide a description of his county’s 

boundaries to the Secretary of State by the first day of May 1837.
34

  In his description, 

Judge John P. Coles made it a point to describe the southern boundary of Washington 

County “so as to include Lake Creek settlement.”
35

 

On February 13, 1837, John P. Coles, Chief Justice of Washington County, certified 

the election returns of Washington County to the Secretary of State of the Republic of 

Texas, R. A. Irion.
36

  In this certification of the Washington County election returns, the 

voters in the Lake Creek Precinct elected two Justices of the Peace: George Galbraith and 
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Jeremiah Washam [Worsham].
37

  During the Republic of Texas, Justices of the Peace 

also served as the Commissioners on the County Commissioners’ Courts.
38

  

The first Washington County Commissioners’ Court meeting was held on April 3-

4, 1837 and the two Justices of the Peace from the Lake Creek Precinct, George Galbraith 

and Jeremiah Worsham, were present.
39

  Some of the earliest activities of the Washington 

County Commissioners’ Court concerned the creation of roads in Washington County.  

Some of these roads were to be established to and from the Lake Creek Settlement. Roads 

were proposed from the Lake Creek Settlement to Houston, to the town of New 

Cincinnati and to the Baptiste Village.
40

  “Battise (Baptiste, Battiste) Village was the 

upper village of the three principal communities established by the Coushatta Indians on 

the Trinity River in what is now Polk and San Jacinto counties.”
41

  

On May 17, 1837, W. W. Shepperd would also become the first postmaster and 

his store would become the first post office in the Lake Creek Settlement. Shepperd’s 

store was also the first post office in what is today Montgomery County.
42

 

In July of 1837, W. W. Shepperd founded the town of Montgomery in the Lake Creek 

Settlement at the site of his home and his store. On July 8, 1837, the Telegraph and Texas 

Register newspaper in Houston, Texas published an advertisement for the new town of 

Montgomery submitted by W. W. Shepperd and his business associate J. W. Moody.
43

   

John Wyatt Moody was the First Auditor of the Republic of Texas.
44

 W. W. Shepperd, 

his wife, his children and their slaves were the first residents of the town of Montgomery, 

the first town founded in the Lake Creek Settlement. 

Five months after the town of Montgomery was founded, Montgomery County was 

created when Republic of Texas President Sam Houston signed the act creating 

Montgomery County into law on December 14, 1837.
45

  The new county of Montgomery 

was composed of the three large political precincts that had previously formed eastern 

Washington County: the Viesca Precinct, the San Jacinto Precinct and the Lake Creek 

Precinct.
46

 The Lake Creek Precinct was very large and included most of the territory of 

present-day Montgomery County.  The San Jacinto Precinct included most of the territory 

of present-day Walker County and the Viesca Precinct included most of the territory of 

present-day Grimes County.
47
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Shortly after Montgomery County was created, the first county seat of Montgomery 

County was the town of Montgomery located in the Lake Creek Settlement. Montgomery 

County Chief Justice Jesse Grimes was holding open court, and County Clerk Gwynn 

Morrison was recording documents in the town of Montgomery as early as February of 

1838.
48

 

The town of Montgomery was the county seat of a county that was huge.  In her book 

Texas in 1850, Melinda Rankin wrote, “[The town of] Montgomery was at that time the 

local seat of government of a territory larger than the State of Delaware, extending from 

the San Antonio Road (the old “king’s pass” of the anti-Texan era) on the north, to 

Spring Creek on the south, and from the Brasos [Brazos] on the west, to the Trinity river 

on the east, some seventy miles on either course – and now containing the counties of 

Grimes, Walker and Montgomery.”
49

  

Shortly after the town of Montgomery became the county seat of Montgomery 

County, W. W. Shepperd purchased an additional 212 acres of land from John Corner on 

February 26, 1838.
50

  These 212 acres were located due south and adjoining the 200 acres 

that Shepperd had originally founded the town of Montgomery upon.  The first 

Montgomery County Commissioners’ Court meeting was held a few days later on March 

1, 1838.
51

  At this meeting, W. W. Shepperd donated an equal half undivided interest in 

200 of these 212 acres of land to Montgomery County.
52

  At the same time the 

Commissioners voted to move “the place of the town” of Montgomery to these 200 acres 

of land.
53

  A house owned by W. W. Shepperd was leased to the county to serve as the 

first Montgomery County courthouse.
54

  The town of Montgomery grew and flourished 

as the county seat of Montgomery County for several decades.
55

  

On May 30, 1838, Jesse Grimes, the Chief Justice of Montgomery County provided 

Montgomery County election returns from the election earlier in the year to the Secretary 

of State of the Republic of Texas, R. A. Irion. For the Precinct of Lake Creek, Martin P. 

Clark and George Galbraith were elected Justices of the Peace and Williams S. Taylor 

was elected Constable.
56

 

As stated earlier, W. W. Shepperd had become the first postmaster in the Lake Creek 

Settlement on May 17, 1837 about two months before the town of Montgomery was 

founded.
57

  In addition to being the first store in the Lake Creek Settlement, W. W. 
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Shepperd’s store was also the first post office in the Lake Creek Settlement. In 1838, 

Route 1 and Route 14 of the Republic of Texas postal service ran through Shepperd’s 

Store. Route 1 ran from Houston to New Cincinnati via Shepperd’s store. Route 14 began 

at Shepperd’s store and ran to the “La Bahia Crossing on the Colorado” via “McGuffin’s, 

Fantharp’s [Fanthorp’s], Washington, Independence [and] Mitchell’s”
58

 It is also 

interesting to note that beginning in the August 12, 1837 edition of the Telegraph and 

Texas Register newspaper, W. W. Shepperd was shown as the Telegraph and Texas 

Register’s agent in “Montgomery, Lake Creek.”
59

 

Following the founding of the town of Montgomery and the creation of Montgomery 

County in 1837, the term Lake Creek Settlement was used less frequently to describe the 

area that had once been the settlement. However, the area around the town of 

Montgomery was still called the Lake Creek Settlement for several more years. For 

example, an advertisement in the July 2, 1845 edition of the Montgomery Patriot 

newspaper, made mention of the Lake Creek Settlement with the following statement,  

 

“The lands surrounding Montgomery, known as the Lake Creek Settlement, being of 

such a rich and fertile character, and having a rich and industrious population, it is 

destined to be, in a short time, a town of considerable importance.”
60

 

 

III. SIGNIFICANCE 

 

In 1831, during the Texas colonial period, Empresario Stephen F. Austin made 

land grants to colonists between the west fork of the San Jacinto River and the stream 

known as Lake Creek in Austin’s Second Colony in the Mexican State of Coahuila and 

Texas.  By 1833, this Anglo-American settlement had become known as the Lake Creek 

Settlement. The Lake Creek Settlement was the earliest Anglo-American settlement in 

what is today Montgomery County.  In 1835, W. W. Shepperd, a colonist from North 

Carolina, purchased land in the John Corner League and established a store in the 

growing settlement near the intersection of three important trails: the Coushatta Trace, 

the Contraband Trace and the Grimes Road. Shepperd’s store quickly became the 

community center of the Lake Creek Settlement. In 1835-1836, men from the Lake Creek 
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Settlement fought in many of the battles of the Texas Revolution, including the Battle of 

Concepcion, the Grass Fight, the Siege of Bexar, and the Battle of San Jacinto. Following 

the Texas Revolution, the Lake Creek Settlement was located in Washington County.  In 

July of 1837, W. W. Shepperd founded the town of Montgomery in association with John 

Wyatt Moody, the First Auditor of the Republic of Texas, at the site of Shepperd’s home 

and store. On December 14, 1837, President Sam Houston signed the Act creating 

Montgomery County.  In early 1838, the town of Montgomery located in the Lake Creek 

Settlement became the first county seat of Montgomery County and served as such for 

several decades. The lands surrounding the town of Montgomery were still known as the 

Lake Creek Settlement as late as 1845. 

 

*** 

ADDITIONAL SOURCES 

 

o Scans of the primary source documents evidencing the Lake Creek Settlement and 

its development are posted at http://www.lakecreeksettlement.info along with the 

trace and road maps referenced in this narrative. 

o Kameron K. Searle, J.D., The Early History of Montgomery, Texas, (Mont-

gomery, Texas: The City of Montgomery, 2012). 
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